
VERO BEACH UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES 
Tuesday, November 8, 2016 – 9:00 a.m. 

City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida  
 
PRESENT: Chairwoman, Laura Moss; Vice Chairman/Indian River Shores 
Representative, Robert Auwaerter; Members: J. Rock Tonkel, Stephen Lapointe, Judy 
Orcutt, Bill Teston and Alternate Member #1, George Baczynski Also Present: City 
Manager, James O’Connor; Finance Director, Cynthia Lawson; Director of Electric 
Utility Operations, Ted Fletcher; Public Works Director, Monte Falls and Deputy City 
Clerk, Sherri Philo 
 
Excused Absence: Chuck Mechling 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. 
 
2. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A) Approval of Minutes 
 
1. October 18, 2016 

 
Mrs. Moss referred to page 1 of the October 18, 2016 Utilities Commission minutes 
under Public Coment. She added to the end of the first sentence, “since it has to do with 
utilities and it is misinformation factually.”  She said the word “sale” is missing from 
the sentence “The three other candidates support not the full sale, but the sale of the 
Indian River Shores portion.”  She then referred to the sentence “From the May 10, 2016 
Utilities Commission meeting minutes she would like to read her response to the propose 
capital expenditures of $21 million dollars over 20-years for the utilities infrastructure.” 
She asked that “page 5” be added to the sentence.  She said the word “feels” should be 
“thinks” in the sentence, “She feels that the wrong impression was given in the letter.” 
She then added to the end of the sentence, “FPL’s offer of $30 million to purchase the 
Indian River Shores customers.”  She added the following sentence noting that it should 
be the last sentence on page 1, “The contract for the entire sale still is on the table, the 
offer for the partial sale is gone.”  She then referred to page 7, the first paragraph where 
Mr. Bolton stated, “That decision would be up to the Utility Commission who previously 
voted to move forward with the canopy streets.”  She asked that her reply, “Mrs. Moss 
said that the previous vote was 3-3” be added to the minutes.  She then referred to page 
12, paragraph 3, under Old Business, the word “imbedded” should be “embedded.”   On 
page 13, the second paragraph, the word “addresses” should be “addressed.”  Also on 
page 13, the fourth paragraph where it states, “Mrs. Moss asked if they can automatically 
do a memo and make sure the other Commissions and Boards are handled the same 
way,” the following statements should be added, “From the point of view of City 
Council, presumably it would make their job easier to segregate the recommendations 
and send them directly as separate and distinct pieces of information.”  She said the 
following statement should be added after Mr. Gorry’s statement (paragraph 6), “Mrs. 
Moss said that she does that as well, but there is no need for a time lag.  The City 
Council should get these recommendations directly.”   

                                       1  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



 
Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to approve the minutes of the October 18, 2016 
Utilities Commission meeting as amended.  Dr. Lapointe seconded the motion and it 
passed unanimously. 
 

B) Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption 
 
This item was not discussed. 
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Mr. Peter Gorry, Chairman of the Finance Commission, said at their last meeting the 
issue of rates came up and he would like to give them an update.  He handed out to the 
Commission members information regarding Duke Energy (attached to the original 
minutes).  He explained that the information provided was Duke Energy’s announcement 
of their proposed 4% rate increase for next year, as well as another $1.50 increase.  Mr. 
Gorry said if those increases are approved, Duke Energy will be more expensive than the 
City of Vero Beach.  He said that Gulf Power and the two Florida public utilities are $17 
more per month than the City of Vero Beach and are asking for another $10 increase.  
Therefore, over 2.1 million customers will have a higher rate in 2017, if approved by the 
Public Service Commission (PSC).  He said that Florida Power and Light (FPL) was 
going up 6%.  His point is that 2.1 million customers in the investor utilities regulated by 
the PSC have higher rates than the City of Vero Beach.  He said the significant difference 
in this rate is the return on equity.  He said the return on equity for regulated utilities is 
between 10% and 11%, which is added on to the operating expenses after taxes for a 10% 
to 11% return.  The City’s return on equity is 4.8%, which is a major difference.  He said 
that as of October, there were 12 utilities in Florida that were more expensive than the 
City of Vero Beach, including the four (4) of the six (6) investor owned utilities.  He said 
the City also offered to go to the PSC to have them review their rates on whether they 
were suppressive, excessive, and abusive, which he said was not the case.  He said that 
rates are determined from the formula of rate of return plus operating expenses based on 
usage.  Essentially that is applied in different ways.  The City takes 6% of the revenues, 
which is 4.8% of the return on investment.    
 
Mr. Auwaerter said that Mr. Gorry constantly brings up three (3) of the most expensive 
utilities in the other part of the State, but he never addresses how the City compares 
against other municipal electric utilities.  Mr. Auwaerter said the latest data from the 
Florida Municipal Electric Association (FMEA), which the information is located on 
www.publicpower.com, is that as of August 16th out of the 33 electric utilities the City of 
Vero Beach had the 29th worst rates.  He said that Ft. Pierce, who buys all their power 
from the Florida Municipal Power Agency (FMPA), was ranked 11th and Orlando 
Utilities Commission (OUC), whom the City purchases a lot of their power from, was 
ranked 10th.  He said that Ft. Pierce is very similar in size in the electric utility and the 
City of Vero Beach’s rates are 9% higher.  He said OUC was 10.9% higher.  He said that 
is the benchmark to compare with the City of Vero Beach.  He said there are 28 
municipal electric utilities that had lower rates as of the most recent data they have.  He 
said this is something that the Utilities Commission and the City Council needs to look at 
in terms of how they could get the City’s rates down.  He said if they could get the rates 
down to the medium utility, the City’s rates would be down by 6.7%, which would be 

                                       2  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 

http://www.publicpower.com/


real progress.  They might not get to FPL rates, but it would be a savings for every 
customer.  He said that is the benchmark to look at.  Not Duke Power, Gulf Power, 
Tampa Electric, etc.  He said utilities, such as Ft. Pierce, are in the same boat the City is 
in with regards to purchasing power from FMPA.  He said FMPA doesn’t charge the City 
of Vero Beach a different rate than they do with their other customers.  It is based on the 
cost that comes from each particular electric utility. 
 
Mr. Gorry said as of October 1st, the base rate and the usage rate for Ft. Pierce were 
higher.  He said there is a subsidy of $10 in the City of Ft. Pierce.  Therefore, the actual 
rate, without the subsidy, is higher in Ft. Pierce.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked Mr. Gorry, what is the source of his data. 
 
Mr. Gorry answered FMEA.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter said FMEA hasn’t updated their rates yet.  He said their rates wouldn’t be 
out on October 1st because it always comes in with a lag. 
 
Mr. Gorry said that is why he speaks with people within these organizations.  He said the 
fact is that the City’s rates are going down and they would go down another $1.50 if it 
wasn’t for the lawsuits by Indian River Shores (IRS) and Indian River County (IRC).  He 
said the City would have further reductions in that the $750,000 for the demolition and 
cleanup of the Power Plant would be gone next year, which would further reduce costs.  
He said there would be an additional $1.50 if the lawsuits were dropped.  He would 
assume that the Utilities Commission would support the City defending itself. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said IRS signed a Franchise Agreement with the City of Vero Beach in 
1968, which was renewed in 1986 and it was made in good faith.  He said the people in 
the City of Vero Beach who signed these did not have a gun to their head.  The reason 
IRS is suing is because the Franchise Agreement expired and the City of Vero Beach said 
it doesn’t apply anymore.     
 
Mr. Gorry said what Mr. Auwaerter is saying is that when the Franchise Agreement 
expires the City could no longer serve.  He asked when the Franchise Agreement with 
IRS expires. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said it expired a few days ago. 
 
Mr. Gorry asked then would he suggest that the City stop serving. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter answered no.  He said there is a mechanism that has been used previously, 
which was between Winter Park and FPL to go to an arbitration to decide the value of the 
assets.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked that they return to the fundamental issues because they don’t want to 
spend the whole meeting on this.  She appreciated Mr. Gorry’s comments, but felt that he 
was putting the cart before the horse.  She said if rates were reasonable there would not 
have been any lawsuits.  She said that Mr. Auwaerter was correct in that they should be 
looking at the median when comparing utilities.  She was happy to know that the City of 

                                       3  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



Vero Beach was not the most expensive utilities in the State, but said that is not a lot of 
comfort.  She said today is election day and the voters are going to decide if the rates are 
too high.   
 
Mr. Gorry said that he was talking about the Legislature. 
 
Mrs. Moss said the Legislature is getting ready to move on this. She said that she spoke 
to State Representative Debbie Mayfield and Senator Jack Latvala personally and they 
are ready to move on this.  She said this is not something that Moses brought down from 
the mountaintop in stone.  She said there is no such thing as an ironclad contract even if 
they wanted one.  She thanked Mr. Gorry for the information he provided and asked that 
he summarize what he wanted to say because they need to return to the meeting. 
 
Mr. Gorry said there is a solution and the solution is the Legislature.  He said 22 states 
have deregulated electricity and six (6) to 18 states have deregulated gas.  He said there 
are two (2) steps to be taken, which are first to have municipalities put under the PSC 
with the appropriate ground rules and second to deregulate.  What it means is they would 
uncouple power generation from transmission and distribution service.    
 
Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. Gorry for his comments.  
 
Mr. Tonkel said what Mr. Gorry has not discussed adequately was the City’s non 
competitive position, which continues and has for the past 17 years that he has been 
involved.  He said it was about time that Mr. Gorry and the other leaders of the City took 
affirmative steps to see some improvement for the consumers of the City.  He said the 
record is deplorable. 
 
Mr. Gorry said the first step is to have IRC and IRS drop their lawsuits.  He said that he 
has worked in the utility business for 40 years, he has managed utilities, he has gone 
before the PSC, he has been involved in mergers and acquisitions, etc.  He said that he 
has some grasp on what he is talking about.  He said the Finance Commission clearly 
recognizes the situation and have pushed for the full sale of the utility.   
 
Mrs. Moss said it hasn’t been that clear to the community.  She thanked Mr. Gorry for his 
comments and stated that they need to move on with today’s agenda. 
 
Mr. Mark Mucher said a lot of the numbers that Mr. Gorry throws out have the investor 
owned utilities at 6% on top because of some imputed franchise fee that the FMEA likes 
to penalize public owned utilities with.  But, Mr. Gorry doesn’t include the municipal 
utilities, most of which have a 10% utility tax.  He said that Mr. Gorry likes to compare 
rates plus fees, but not rates plus taxes.  That is one reason Mr. Auwaerter pointed out 
that the numbers were different.  Mr. Mucher said FMEA just changed from their August 
rates to September rates and if they have the October rates he didn’t know why they were 
not published.     
 
Mr. Auwaerter thought there was the normal few months data delay because they have to 
gather the information.  He didn’t think there was anything they were trying to hide.   
 

                                       4  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



Mr. Mucher said if they have the information to give to Mr. Gorry then they should have 
the information available for the public.  He thought that Mr. Auwaerter was a little 
mistaken in that FMPA charges the same fees to everyone.  He said the reason that 90% 
of the Florida municipal utilities are cheaper than the City of Vero Beach’s is because 
they are buying from the All Requirements Project (ARP) of FMPA and the City of Vero 
Beach is buying from “entitlements.”  He said the “entitlements” are by far the most 
expensive.     
 
Mr. Auwaerter said the ARP costs, which are in FMPA’s Annual Report, came in lower 
than the City’s in the last fiscal year and prior to that they were actually higher.  He said 
if they go beyond the full year the City’s costs were lower from the St. Lucie and Stanton 
Plants.  
 
Mr. Mucher said they are not talking about old Plants like St. Lucie and Stanton. They 
are talking about new Plants, like the Plant in Ft. Pierce that is highly efficient.  He said 
that his understanding from FMEA was that the ARP wholesale energy costs were 
comparable to FPL’s wholesale energy costs.  He said the City is not buying from the 
ARP, but are buying from OUC.  He said that is why the City’s costs are higher.  He 
asked if the City was in fact trending up or if they were on a downward trend.  He said 
that he was told they were on a slightly upward trend and then all of a sudden the 
announcement was made in October, just before the Election, that there is a reduction of 
$1.50.   
 
Mr. Gorry said all the numbers that he mentioned were without franchise fees and 
without municipal taxes.  He said that he didn’t add anything else.  They were the base 
rates.   
 
Dr. Lapointe asked as a point of order, how is the Commission to conduct their business. 
He asked are they to speak when they want or do they require recognition from the Chair.  
He asked do they rebut public comment noting that it delays the business of the 
Commission.   
 
Mrs. Moss said that is why she wanted to move forward.  She thought that technically 
they (members) were to ask to speak, but that is why generally she asks if any of the 
Commission members has any comments.  She said that she does not have any objections 
to a Commission member making a comment.    
  
4. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A) Power Plant Demolition Report – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of 
Electric Utility Operations 

 
*Please note that discussion took place during today’s Power Point presentation. 
 
Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric Utility Operations, gave the Commission members 
a handout of the Electric Utilities facebook page (attached to the original minutes).  He 
explained that there was a communication issue in getting information out to the public 
after the recent hurricane so they set up their own electric utility facebook page.  He said 
that when they were going through the hurricane they sent the information to the Police 

                                       5  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



Department’s website, which was confusing because people didn’t know to go to their 
website.   
 
Mrs. Moss thought this was a great idea because people don’t think to go to the Police 
Department’s website to check for outages.   
 
Mr. Fletcher gave the Commission members a handout on the City of Vero Beach Power 
Plant Demolition Items (attached to the original minutes).  He noted that this information 
would go along with the Power Point presentation. 
 
At this time, Mr. Fletcher gave a Power Point presentation on the Power Plant demolition 
(attached to the original minutes). 
 
Mr. Tonkel said the spreadsheet indicates that their expenditures for fiscal year 
2016/2017 were $210,480 versus a budget of $750,000.  He asked would the removal of 
all the assets at the Power Plant be completed within the budgeted figure.  He asked is the 
City’s position at this point that the budgeted amount is adequate. 
 
Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, answered yes.     
 
Mr. Tonkel assumed that when the budget was put together that these costs were put in 
the projected rate structure for 2016/2017. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that is correct. 
 
Mrs. Moss asked has there been further discussion about moving the substation. 
 
Mr. O’Connor answered no.   
 
Mr. Teston asked if the substation stays on the property, would that limit what the 
property could be used for.   
 
Mr. O’Connor said it could, but they have access to the property on the north and the 
south side.  He noted that the real value of the property is the water and the substation is 
on the highway.  He said there would be limitations no matter what they do because the 
substation is taking up room on the property.  He said they could move the substation, but 
to move it to the corner of the lot would cost almost as much as it would cost to move it 
across the street. 
 
Mrs. Moss asked if they have any idea of the timeline for the overall project.   
 
Mr. Fletcher said the only timeline that he could give at this point was the one that is 
currently in progress, which is 60 days on the fuel tank. 
 
Mrs. Moss said the presentation was very well done and gives them a sense of the 
enormity of the scope of it in that there are many different parts to it. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said there would probably be a lot of community input so the time would 
be gauged by how much activity that generates.   

                                       6  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



B) Quarterly Outage Report – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric 
Utility Operations 

 
Mr. Fletcher briefly went over the Quarterly Outage Report with the Commission 
members (attached to the original minutes).  He said the only thing that stood out was 
because of the storms they had in August and September there were a great deal of 
outages. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter complimented Mr. Fletcher on the report.  He said it has good graphics 
and has a nice data set that they could start to do comparisons on historical trends.  He 
felt it was important that they keep showing the monthly data as they build it up over the 
years. 
 
Mr. Baczynski said one question that was asked after the recent hurricane was why it 
took longer to restore power to some areas of the City than others and they were told that 
they were areas that had a lot of trees.  He asked if any thought has been given to putting 
the utilities underground in these areas. 
 
Mr. Fletcher answered yes.  He said they have identified some areas and if it is cost 
beneficial for the City to do it they will.  He reported that there were two (2) areas on the 
mainland and one (1) area on the beachside that they were looking at putting the utilities 
underground.   
 
Mr. Baczynski asked if they would be making a presentation to the Commission. 
 
Mr. Fletcher said that he could give a presentation on the areas they were looking at for 
this budget year and the areas they were looking at for the next budget year. 
 
Mr. Baczynski would like to see an overall plan of what areas needed to be addressed.  
 
Mr. Teston asked would enabling the crews to trim trees further back lend itself to less 
power outages.   
 
Mr. O’Connor noted that the City is a Tree City U.S.A.  He said no one had any 
objections to them trimming trees before the storm and immediately after the storm.  But, 
two (2) months from now people won’t remember the last outage.   
 
Mr. Teston noted that underground utilities are very expensive compared to overhead 
utilities.  He asked for a cost estimate on what it would take to put the electric service 
underground in the areas that Mr. Fletcher referred to.   
 
Mr. O’Connor said that would be part of Mr. Fletcher’s presentation. 
 
Mr. Tonkel said the report is very well done.  He asked if there is a running total on what 
equipment creates the biggest problems.   
 
Mr. Fletcher answered yes, all the information is kept in a database.   
 

                                       7  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



C) Post-Hurricane Utilities Update – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of 
Electric Utility Operations, Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, 
Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager 

 
Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. Fletcher and his staff for working so hard during and after the 
storm.  She said that Mr. O’Connor gave an update at their last meeting and asked Mr. 
Fletcher if there was anything he wanted to add.   
 
Mr. Fletcher reported that the only thing that is still pending is some debris pickup.  He 
said there might be some homeowners who were provided temporary power because of 
issues with their overhead lines, but there is not many.  He said they are now operating as 
usual.   
 
Mrs. Moss said the charge of the Utilities Commission is to be an Advisory Board to the 
City Council and their purview is the electric issue, which is usually at the forefront, 
water and sewer, and solid waste.  She said the Solid Waste Department works under Mr. 
Falls, who is the Director of Public Works.  She thought that this was the first time, at 
least during her tenure, that Mr. Falls has attended a Utilities Commission meeting to 
discuss something.  She said that she has been remiss in not inviting him to attend their 
meetings sooner and was sorry that it took a storm for him to attend.  She said that she 
was happy that he was present for today’s meeting. 
 
Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, thanked Mr. Fletcher and his staff for their 
assistance in that they all worked together during the storm.  He said that he would like to 
give a quick report on some of the storm related issues before getting into the solid waste 
program.  He reported that as of Friday they have completed the first pickup at every 
residential property in the City.  They are making a second pass through the 
neighborhoods in case there are piles that might have been put out late or that might have 
been missed.  They hope to have this completed by the end of Thursday.  He reported that 
they have collected almost 25,000 cubic yards of debris to date.  To put that in 
comparison, in 2004, after Hurricane Frances they had 150,000 cubic yards of debris and 
after Hurricane Jeanne they had 90,000 cubic yards of debris.  He reported that they have 
prepositioned contracts for assistance, with one being the primary and a second in case 
one could not get here and they have a consultant that helps monitor where the loads are 
collected.  He explained that the City receives a ticket with the GPS coordinate on it, 
which gets downloaded from the field to the consultant’s home office and the City 
receives the report the following day.  What they did during this storm, which they have 
not done in the past, was they had the information on the City’s website where people 
could click on the site and see storm debris collection, which was updated every day.  He 
said they started out making good progress in that the contractors bring in a few of their 
crews, as well as hire subcontractors who follow the work around the Country and go 
wherever the most work is.  He said the City had a small storm so it was hard to keep the 
subcontracted crews here.  They started with six (6) crews and it dwindled down to two 
(2) crews.  At that point they supplemented them with City forces, which brought them 
back on target of collecting between 1,000 to 1,800 cubic yards per day.  He reported that 
they hope to start the grinding operation the week of November 18th.  He said they are 
looking at a few options, one (1) was to haul it off, two (2) was there has been some 
interest in using the mulch for weed suppression in some of the groves, and three (3) was 
to look at tilling some of it back into the soil on site.  He reported that there was damage 

                                       8  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



to the road and dune system at Conn Beach and the estimate to repair this was $300,000 
with $200,000 for sand replacement at the dune.  He reported that they were working 
towards getting the permits and bids in hand in order to start the work.  He said there was 
one dune crossover at Bahia Mar that was damaged and they are working on getting 
permits and this cost would be somewhere in the $20,000 range.  He reported that they 
have the applicants briefing with FEMA to go over possible reimbursement for some of 
these charges tomorrow.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked how extensive is the paperwork they have to provide to FEMA.   
 
Mr. Falls said they have to keep in a log the labor, equipment used, and the specific site 
worked at so it could be transferred onto FEMA’s worksheets.  He said the reason the 
City hired the debris consultant was because they have experience in doing this.  He 
explained that before a load can be transferred the consultant gets the GPS location, they 
measure the volume before it leaves and then when the truck comes back in it goes by a 
tower where there is a spotter who estimates the percentage of the load.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked in terms of the initial application is it extensive from a paperwork 
perspective.   
 
Ms. Cynthia Lawson, Finance Director, explained that tomorrow’s briefing with FEMA 
is really just a question and answer session.  It will be another few months before they 
have a true kickoff meeting with the Public Assistant Coordinator (PAC) who is assigned 
to the City by FEMA.  At that point, City staff will begin to sit down with the PAC and 
divide their various costs into project work sheets.  She explained that they would come 
up with the most intelligent grouping of the kind of costs, such as debris removal, 
restoration of power, etc., and that is when they will be getting down to the nitty-gritty of 
agreeing on what costs are eligible and what documentation is required.  She said it is 
very extensive.  She said in terms of the process it takes a long time, an example is that 
the City is still dealing with FEMA on the 2004/2005 hurricanes.  She reported that they 
have $2 million set aside in the General Fund to cover these kinds of expenses, which 
would be replenished by any money the City receives from FEMA and from insurance.   
 

D) Overview of Solid Waste Program – Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works 
Director 

 
Mrs. Moss asked Mr. Falls to give the Commission members an overview of the Solid 
Waste program. 
 
Mr. Falls gave the Commission members some background.  He said that he has been in 
the Vero Beach area for 35 years and has been working for the City for 26 years.  He 
received his Professional Engineer’s license in the State of Florida in 1995 and has been 
the Public Works Director for 12 years.  In 2005 the Public Works Department did not 
include the Solid Waste operation.  That was managed by General Maintenance Services, 
which included Solid Waste, Fleet Maintenance, and Facilities Maintenance.  That 
Director retired in 2005 and he was asked by the City Manager to look at the operation 
and make a recommendation.  His recommendation was to roll those divisions into the 
Public Works Department and not duplicate a Department Head and administrative 
services for those three (3) divisions.  At that time, those divisions were rolled into the 

                                       9  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



Public Works Department, which resulted in a savings of about $200,000 annually.  The 
Public Works Department now has nine (9) divisions.   The Street Division, which takes 
care of all the streets, the signage, the pavement markings, and the drainage.  The 
Grounds Maintenance Division, which takes care of all the City’s Parks and public lands.  
They also manage the Cemetery maintenance, staking out graves, and dealing with 
customers on site.  They have an Engineering and Survey Division that does project 
reviews for the Planning and Development Department, as well as their own small project 
designs.  They have the Geographic Information System who assists the Electric Utilities 
Department and the Water and Sewer Department with mapping.  They have the 
Administrative Division for the management of the Public Works Department.  He 
reported that in 2005 there were 150 employees in the Public Works Department and 
today they have 97 employees.      
 
Mr. Falls reported that the City has been in the solid waste business since the late 1940’s.  
In the 70’s that operation was changed to an Enterprise Fund.  They currently serve about 
7,300 residential customer accounts and about 1,600 commercial accounts.  All are solely 
in the City limits.  They do not have a service territory outside the City limits.  They 
provide side yard residential garbage collection twice a week and curbside yard debris 
collection once a week.  Recycling is provided through a commercial provider and paid 
for with the non-ad valorem assessment, which is included in the tax bills and is managed 
by Indian River County.  The City’s commercial garbage collection is tailored to the 
needs of the customer.  He explained that the City collects commercial garbage Monday 
through Saturday and can collect someone’s commercial garbage from once a week to six 
(6) times a week.  Residential rates are $14.62 per month and commercial rates are based 
at $4.50 per cubic yard.  He reported that the residential rates are close to surrounding 
communities and the City’s commercial rates are lower.  He said about a year ago Indian 
River County switched to a once a week trash collection, which is billed out at about 
$9.68 per residential unit.  The City’s Solid Waste Department has 23 employees and 
have eight (8) residential trucks, five (5) commercial trucks, and six (6) specialty trucks 
(claw trucks).  He reported that if a citizen or business has a large debris pile the City will 
give them a price for collection.  Their budget is about $2.5 million per year, which is 
what the City takes in and what they expend.  He said about 60% of their work is 
residential and about 40% is commercial.     
 
Mr. Tonkel asked if they have any contractors who are retained on a permanent basis or 
on an as needed basis. 
 
Mr. Falls said they do not have specific contracts, but inside the City limits they have 
franchise haulers where if someone needed a dumpster they would contract with them.  
He said the City knows who those contractors are so if someone needs them the City will 
provide them with the list of contractors.  He noted that the City does receive a 6% 
franchise fee.   
 

E) Update on Utility Customer Service Technology Upgrades – Mr. Jim 
O’Connor, City Manager 

 
Mrs. Moss reported that this item was before the Commission last November.  It recently 
went before the Finance Commission and no financial questions were asked.  She 
reported that this was also presented to the City Council.  She said that she went back and 

                                       10  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



read the minutes from their November 10, 2015 meeting and there was a question as to 
why they don’t save money or at the very least reduce the charge back to the Utility 
Fund.  She said that she would like to address this question after Ms. Lawson makes her 
presentation. 
 
Ms. Lawson said the conversation about improvements to their customer service probably 
began in 2013 and was originally part of a conversation with both the Finance and 
Utilities Commissions in that the Finance Commission Chairman made suggestions to 
optimize or lower costs within the Electric Utility and to improve the efficiency and the 
customer service responsiveness of the Customer Service Department.  At the time, staff 
put together a proposal for three phases.  The first phase was the upgrade of billing 
software, which at the time was about 10 years out of date.  The second phase was the 
implementation of Ebox and Lockbox.  She briefly explained the function of Ebox and 
Lockbox.  She said currently when someone does an online bill-pay through their bank; 
the bank creates a paper check that is mailed to the City and has to be hand keyed 
because it comes without any account information.  She said Lockbox would have the 
bills sent to the City’s bank to be processed rather than the City’s staff processing all the 
bills.  This second phase staff believes would result in efficiencies and cost savings 
within their cashiering function.  The third and final phase was the customer website and 
their thought at the time was that this would be the most difficult and most expensive to 
implement.  She said currently customers can go online and pay their bill, but it is very 
cumbersome and redirects them to a third-party website and the only thing they can do is 
pay their bill.  They could not view their bill, set up auto debits, etc.  They could only pay 
their bill.  Staff recently discovered that there is an online bill payment and presentment 
software service that was already chosen by the City’s billing software provider, Cayenta, 
as their partner.  She said this would not require any upgrades to their billing software 
and is very inexpensive in both implementation and ongoing costs.  Included in the 
backup information provided is a description of the kinds of things Invoice Cloud offers 
(attached to the original minutes).  In addition, it would require that the City implement 
through their billing software Cayenta’s customer service porthole so essentially what 
would happen is when a customer goes to the City’s website they would enter through 
that porthole so they would not have that third party feeling.  They will be able to view 
their bills and other things that have to do with their bill itself.  They can also choose the 
bill paying options.  She said one of the most exciting things about it, other than setting 
up auto pay, pay by credit card, text, etc., is customers will also have the option to sign 
up for electronic billing.  She said that is one of the things that will result in a net savings 
to the City, which will offset the costs of the other portions of this.  Because it is easy to 
integrate and install, staff made the recommendation, which was accepting by the Finance 
Commission and the City Council, that they move this phase up as phase two (2) and 
save Ebox and Lockbox for the next phase.  She said 28% of their customers pay their 
bills by physically coming in to the Customer Service Department.  Over the past three 
(3) years staff has suggested if they want to save costs in the cashiering function that they 
could close the drive-through or shorten the hours, which was met with a lot of 
resistance.  She said staff is okay with that in that they are a full service customer service 
utility, but it does come at a price.  Staff is suggesting that if they implement these types 
of services they might see a natural downturn in the amount of demand on the customer 
service representatives because the people who prefer to do their business at home and 
not actually physically come to the Customer Service Department the City can offer that 
option.  She reported that they are currently in the process of working with Mr. Fletcher 

                                       11  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



and his staff to implement the outage management system, which does require 
modifications to the billing software.  She reported that this program should be completed 
sometime in December so they would start this phase the first of the year and should be 
completed by next summer.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked Ms. Lawson if she envisions having an option where the customer 
completely opts out of receiving a paper bill and receives it electronically. 
 
Ms. Lawson answered yes.  She noted that people who have multiple addresses, such as 
landlords, will have the option to create one account and link them all together and then 
they could pay all the bills with one (1) payment. 
 
Mr. Tonkel asked were competitive proposals taken for each phase of the program. 
 
Ms. Lawson answered no.  She explained that Cayenta is the firm that has the City’s 
current billing software and they are not proposing to replace their billing software 
company.  Cayenta’s piece of it is an off the shelf porthole that allows the City to use the 
Invoice Cloud product.  They did not competitively procure them for a couple of reasons.  
She explained that they are the preferred partner of Cayenta, who already did the 
competitive bidding and chose the firm they wanted to work with.  She said any other bill 
payment and presentment that the City chose would require modifications to their billing 
software in order for it to work.  Cayenta has already looked to find the best partner that 
they could and they chose Invoice Cloud.  She noted that Indian River County has chosen 
Invoice Cloud and so has Ft. Pierce.  She thought that Ocala did a competitive 
procurement and ended up with Invoice Cloud.  She said basically the sole source 
justification is that it has already been integrated with the billing software that the City 
currently has. 
 
Mr. Tonkel asked what is the term of the agreement.  He asked is it something that can be 
cancelled in a year’s notice.   
 
Ms. Lawson said the initial term is three (3) years, it renews for an additional successive 
three (3) years unless it is terminated and it can be terminated at the end of the initial or 
renewal term with a 90-day notice.  They also put into the agreement that the City has the 
authority to terminate the agreement if Invoice Cloud increases their pricing.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked what is the cost. 
 
Ms. Lawson reported that the implementation of the Cayenta CSS portion is $58,000, 
which is a one (1) time fee.  There is also a $15,000 software license fee.  As far as the 
Invoice Cloud goes, they do not know because it is a per transaction pricing.  She 
explained that there are certain parts of this that would be paid by the customer.  For 
instance, customers who pay by credit card or pay by one (1) time payment would pay 
the fees, customers who sign up for ACH the City would pay, and customers who sign up 
for E-billing, the City would receive a net savings of .31 cents.  She estimated in a worst 
case scenario where none of the customers changes from their current demographic or 
uses e-billing at all, it would be about $30,000 per year 
 
Mrs. Orcutt asked how will customers find out about this new service.   

                                       12  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



 
Ms. Lawson said they would probably put a notification in their bill.  She noted that the 
information will also be located on the City’s website.  She said the customers would be 
responsible for going in and creating their own account. 
 
Mrs. Moss said last year the Vice Chairman asked at what point, if any, will there be a 
real cost savings by having this system in terms of needed personnel.   
 
Ms. Lawson said until and unless the City is willing to reduce cashier hours, close the 
drive through window, or in some other way modify the amount of service that is 
provided by the cashiers, she cannot reduce the number of cashiers.  Therefore, the issue 
of cashiers is going to be driven by the City’s willingness to reduce the services offered.  
What this is more likely to do is reduce the number of customer service representatives.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter asked if she thought this would help their collection rate. 
  
Ms. Lawson said it might.  She said their collections have been pretty good in that in the 
last couple of years they have cut down on the cutoff lists by working with customers by 
not allowing them to get too far behind.  They are working with customers to help them 
come up with payment plans and have worked with some of the local aid agencies to help 
customers pay their bills when they can’t.  They have also changed some of their policies 
in regards to deposits.   
 

F) FMPA Matters – Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager 
 
Mrs. Moss reported that a few months ago she invited a representative of the FMPA to 
attend one of their meetings.  She said they have a new Chief Executive, Mr. Jacobs, and 
because he was new they weren’t prepared to accept the invitation.  She said that she left 
them with a standing invitation to attend the Utilities Commission meetings.  She felt that 
it would be worth wild on FMPA’s part to attend a meeting to discuss the $250 million 
that the State Audit uncovered last year.  She noted that the report is still on the internet.  
She said that she heard there was some kind of a debt service on the $250 million dollars.  
She asked Mr. O’Connor if he was aware of this.   
 
Mr. O’Connor asked if she was discussing the money they lost on the futures. 
 
Mrs. Moss answered yes.   She said someone told her about this, but she has not seen it in 
writing anywhere. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said there were penalties in the instruments themselves.  He said FMPA 
did have to pay those costs.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked what was the amount of those penalties. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that he did not know.  He thought that the PSC just reached an 
agreement that futures would be limited in the State of Florida going forward for fuels.  
He thought that everyone in the electric utility in the large volume buyers suffered similar 
type of hits.  The way he understands the future documents is they are instruments that 
state you buy it at a certain rate and if the rate goes down you sell it at a higher rate than 

                                       13  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



what you bought it for and if the rate goes up you would make money.  He said the rates 
went down so they lost whatever that continual was.   
 
Mr. Auwaerter said there were actually two different things going on.  He thought what 
Mrs. Moss was referring to were the Taylor Swaps.   
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that they hope to have the 2016 FMPA Audit completed by 
January.     
 
Mrs. Orcutt asked about the FMPA Solar Survey.  She said that she was very unhappy 
with it.  She asked is it too late for their input. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter answered no.  He said the responses are not due back until tomorrow and 
he has not reviewed the questions yet.  He said that he attended the last meeting in 
Orlando and he received resistance in that there is insistence that solar power is more 
expensive than FMPA’s power.  He did not think they were looking at it correctly noting 
that they might be correct currently with the current technology.  He wanted to make sure 
that FMPA did not bias the survey by saying that solar power was always going to be 
more expensive.  He was not sure if that was the source of Mrs. Orcutt’s concern.   
 
Mrs. Orcutt said the main source of her concern from the very beginning was that the first 
30 questions would prejudice the person responding because they were all about do you 
like your utility company.  She said that is irrelevant. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said they made it a broader survey in order to get the FMPA Board of 
Directors to sign off on it. 
 
Mrs. Orcutt felt that this would totally backfire in this area because this has been such a 
negative political scenario relevant to the utility and they are starting the survey with how 
you like your utility compared to this or that before they even get to a solar question.  The 
other thing is it only talks about community solar and doesn’t mention that the City has a 
net metering program.  She said the survey does not address local issues. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said the problem is they have to try to have the survey at nine (9) minutes.    
 
Mrs. Orcutt said then they shouldn’t have the first 30 questions, they should jump right 
into the solar questions. 
 
Mrs. Moss asked the Commission members if it would be appropriate to have this item 
on next month’s agenda. 
 
Mr. Auwaerter said that he can give a report to the Commission at their next meeting.  
 
5. OLD BUSINESS  
 
None 
 
6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS 
 

                                       14  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 



Mrs. Moss said that next week’s Joint Finance Commission/Utilities Commission 
meeting was rescheduled presumably because Mr. Peter Gorry, Chairman of the Finance 
Commission, was appointed by Mayor Jay Kramer who is not running for reelection.  
Therefore, someone else will have to appoint Mr. Gorry if he is going to maintain his 
position on the Finance Commission.  She said today is election day and she is a 
Commission member at large who was not appointed by an individual Councilmember.  
Therefore, she would retain her seat if she doesn’t get another seat today (referring to a 
seat on the City Council).   She said whatever happens she wanted to state for the record 
that this Commission is very smart, spontaneous, and spirited.  She said the energy level 
is very high and she thanked them all for their time and dedication.  She appreciated all 
their efforts.   
 
7. MEMBER’S MATTERS 
 
Mr. Mark Mucher reported that at the last City Council meeting it was clarified that 
Commission/Board members who were appointed by a Councilmember would continue 
to serve until the Successor Councilperson appoints someone new.  Therefore, the 
rescheduling of the joint Finance Commission/Utilities Commission doesn’t sound like it 
has anything to do with Mr. Gorry being appointed by Mayor Kramer as there will be a 
Finance Commission meeting next week. 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to adjourn today’s meeting at 11:12 a.m.  Mr. 
Baczynski seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
/sp 

                                       15  11/08/16  Utilities Commission 
 


	VERO BEACH UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES
	Tuesday, November 8, 2016 – 9:00 a.m.
	City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida 
	PRESENT: Chairwoman, Laura Moss; Vice Chairman/Indian River Shores Representative, Robert Auwaerter; Members: J. Rock Tonkel, Stephen Lapointe, Judy Orcutt, Bill Teston and Alternate Member #1, George Baczynski Also Present: City Manager, James O’Connor; Finance Director, Cynthia Lawson; Director of Electric Utility Operations, Ted Fletcher; Public Works Director, Monte Falls and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo
	Excused Absence: Chuck Mechling
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m.
	2. PRELIMINARY MATTERS
	A) Approval of Minutes
	1. October 18, 2016
	Mrs. Moss referred to page 1 of the October 18, 2016 Utilities Commission minutes under Public Coment. She added to the end of the first sentence, “since it has to do with utilities and it is misinformation factually.”  She said the word “sale” is missing from the sentence “The three other candidates support not the full sale, but the sale of the Indian River Shores portion.”  She then referred to the sentence “From the May 10, 2016 Utilities Commission meeting minutes she would like to read her response to the propose capital expenditures of $21 million dollars over 20-years for the utilities infrastructure.” She asked that “page 5” be added to the sentence.  She said the word “feels” should be “thinks” in the sentence, “She feels that the wrong impression was given in the letter.” She then added to the end of the sentence, “FPL’s offer of $30 million to purchase the Indian River Shores customers.”  She added the following sentence noting that it should be the last sentence on page 1, “The contract for the entire sale still is on the table, the offer for the partial sale is gone.”  She then referred to page 7, the first paragraph where Mr. Bolton stated, “That decision would be up to the Utility Commission who previously voted to move forward with the canopy streets.”  She asked that her reply, “Mrs. Moss said that the previous vote was 3-3” be added to the minutes.  She then referred to page 12, paragraph 3, under Old Business, the word “imbedded” should be “embedded.”   On page 13, the second paragraph, the word “addresses” should be “addressed.”  Also on page 13, the fourth paragraph where it states, “Mrs. Moss asked if they can automatically do a memo and make sure the other Commissions and Boards are handled the same way,” the following statements should be added, “From the point of view of City Council, presumably it would make their job easier to segregate the recommendations and send them directly as separate and distinct pieces of information.”  She said the following statement should be added after Mr. Gorry’s statement (paragraph 6), “Mrs. Moss said that she does that as well, but there is no need for a time lag.  The City Council should get these recommendations directly.”  
	Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to approve the minutes of the October 18, 2016 Utilities Commission meeting as amended.  Dr. Lapointe seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	B) Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption
	This item was not discussed.
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	Mr. Peter Gorry, Chairman of the Finance Commission, said at their last meeting the issue of rates came up and he would like to give them an update.  He handed out to the Commission members information regarding Duke Energy (attached to the original minutes).  He explained that the information provided was Duke Energy’s announcement of their proposed 4% rate increase for next year, as well as another $1.50 increase.  Mr. Gorry said if those increases are approved, Duke Energy will be more expensive than the City of Vero Beach.  He said that Gulf Power and the two Florida public utilities are $17 more per month than the City of Vero Beach and are asking for another $10 increase.  Therefore, over 2.1 million customers will have a higher rate in 2017, if approved by the Public Service Commission (PSC).  He said that Florida Power and Light (FPL) was going up 6%.  His point is that 2.1 million customers in the investor utilities regulated by the PSC have higher rates than the City of Vero Beach.  He said the significant difference in this rate is the return on equity.  He said the return on equity for regulated utilities is between 10% and 11%, which is added on to the operating expenses after taxes for a 10% to 11% return.  The City’s return on equity is 4.8%, which is a major difference.  He said that as of October, there were 12 utilities in Florida that were more expensive than the City of Vero Beach, including the four (4) of the six (6) investor owned utilities.  He said the City also offered to go to the PSC to have them review their rates on whether they were suppressive, excessive, and abusive, which he said was not the case.  He said that rates are determined from the formula of rate of return plus operating expenses based on usage.  Essentially that is applied in different ways.  The City takes 6% of the revenues, which is 4.8% of the return on investment.   
	Mr. Auwaerter said that Mr. Gorry constantly brings up three (3) of the most expensive utilities in the other part of the State, but he never addresses how the City compares against other municipal electric utilities.  Mr. Auwaerter said the latest data from the Florida Municipal Electric Association (FMEA), which the information is located on www.publicpower.com, is that as of August 16th out of the 33 electric utilities the City of Vero Beach had the 29th worst rates.  He said that Ft. Pierce, who buys all their power from the Florida Municipal Power Agency (FMPA), was ranked 11th and Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC), whom the City purchases a lot of their power from, was ranked 10th.  He said that Ft. Pierce is very similar in size in the electric utility and the City of Vero Beach’s rates are 9% higher.  He said OUC was 10.9% higher.  He said that is the benchmark to compare with the City of Vero Beach.  He said there are 28 municipal electric utilities that had lower rates as of the most recent data they have.  He said this is something that the Utilities Commission and the City Council needs to look at in terms of how they could get the City’s rates down.  He said if they could get the rates down to the medium utility, the City’s rates would be down by 6.7%, which would be real progress.  They might not get to FPL rates, but it would be a savings for every customer.  He said that is the benchmark to look at.  Not Duke Power, Gulf Power, Tampa Electric, etc.  He said utilities, such as Ft. Pierce, are in the same boat the City is in with regards to purchasing power from FMPA.  He said FMPA doesn’t charge the City of Vero Beach a different rate than they do with their other customers.  It is based on the cost that comes from each particular electric utility.
	Mr. Gorry said as of October 1st, the base rate and the usage rate for Ft. Pierce were higher.  He said there is a subsidy of $10 in the City of Ft. Pierce.  Therefore, the actual rate, without the subsidy, is higher in Ft. Pierce.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked Mr. Gorry, what is the source of his data.
	Mr. Gorry answered FMEA.  
	Mr. Auwaerter said FMEA hasn’t updated their rates yet.  He said their rates wouldn’t be out on October 1st because it always comes in with a lag.
	Mr. Gorry said that is why he speaks with people within these organizations.  He said the fact is that the City’s rates are going down and they would go down another $1.50 if it wasn’t for the lawsuits by Indian River Shores (IRS) and Indian River County (IRC).  He said the City would have further reductions in that the $750,000 for the demolition and cleanup of the Power Plant would be gone next year, which would further reduce costs.  He said there would be an additional $1.50 if the lawsuits were dropped.  He would assume that the Utilities Commission would support the City defending itself.
	Mr. Auwaerter said IRS signed a Franchise Agreement with the City of Vero Beach in 1968, which was renewed in 1986 and it was made in good faith.  He said the people in the City of Vero Beach who signed these did not have a gun to their head.  The reason IRS is suing is because the Franchise Agreement expired and the City of Vero Beach said it doesn’t apply anymore.    
	Mr. Gorry said what Mr. Auwaerter is saying is that when the Franchise Agreement expires the City could no longer serve.  He asked when the Franchise Agreement with IRS expires.
	Mr. Auwaerter said it expired a few days ago.
	Mr. Gorry asked then would he suggest that the City stop serving.
	Mr. Auwaerter answered no.  He said there is a mechanism that has been used previously, which was between Winter Park and FPL to go to an arbitration to decide the value of the assets.  
	Mrs. Moss asked that they return to the fundamental issues because they don’t want to spend the whole meeting on this.  She appreciated Mr. Gorry’s comments, but felt that he was putting the cart before the horse.  She said if rates were reasonable there would not have been any lawsuits.  She said that Mr. Auwaerter was correct in that they should be looking at the median when comparing utilities.  She was happy to know that the City of Vero Beach was not the most expensive utilities in the State, but said that is not a lot of comfort.  She said today is election day and the voters are going to decide if the rates are too high.  
	Mr. Gorry said that he was talking about the Legislature.
	Mrs. Moss said the Legislature is getting ready to move on this. She said that she spoke to State Representative Debbie Mayfield and Senator Jack Latvala personally and they are ready to move on this.  She said this is not something that Moses brought down from the mountaintop in stone.  She said there is no such thing as an ironclad contract even if they wanted one.  She thanked Mr. Gorry for the information he provided and asked that he summarize what he wanted to say because they need to return to the meeting.
	Mr. Gorry said there is a solution and the solution is the Legislature.  He said 22 states have deregulated electricity and six (6) to 18 states have deregulated gas.  He said there are two (2) steps to be taken, which are first to have municipalities put under the PSC with the appropriate ground rules and second to deregulate.  What it means is they would uncouple power generation from transmission and distribution service.   
	Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. Gorry for his comments. 
	Mr. Tonkel said what Mr. Gorry has not discussed adequately was the City’s non competitive position, which continues and has for the past 17 years that he has been involved.  He said it was about time that Mr. Gorry and the other leaders of the City took affirmative steps to see some improvement for the consumers of the City.  He said the record is deplorable.
	Mr. Gorry said the first step is to have IRC and IRS drop their lawsuits.  He said that he has worked in the utility business for 40 years, he has managed utilities, he has gone before the PSC, he has been involved in mergers and acquisitions, etc.  He said that he has some grasp on what he is talking about.  He said the Finance Commission clearly recognizes the situation and have pushed for the full sale of the utility.  
	Mrs. Moss said it hasn’t been that clear to the community.  She thanked Mr. Gorry for his comments and stated that they need to move on with today’s agenda.
	Mr. Mark Mucher said a lot of the numbers that Mr. Gorry throws out have the investor owned utilities at 6% on top because of some imputed franchise fee that the FMEA likes to penalize public owned utilities with.  But, Mr. Gorry doesn’t include the municipal utilities, most of which have a 10% utility tax.  He said that Mr. Gorry likes to compare rates plus fees, but not rates plus taxes.  That is one reason Mr. Auwaerter pointed out that the numbers were different.  Mr. Mucher said FMEA just changed from their August rates to September rates and if they have the October rates he didn’t know why they were not published.    
	Mr. Auwaerter thought there was the normal few months data delay because they have to gather the information.  He didn’t think there was anything they were trying to hide.  
	Mr. Mucher said if they have the information to give to Mr. Gorry then they should have the information available for the public.  He thought that Mr. Auwaerter was a little mistaken in that FMPA charges the same fees to everyone.  He said the reason that 90% of the Florida municipal utilities are cheaper than the City of Vero Beach’s is because they are buying from the All Requirements Project (ARP) of FMPA and the City of Vero Beach is buying from “entitlements.”  He said the “entitlements” are by far the most expensive.    
	Mr. Auwaerter said the ARP costs, which are in FMPA’s Annual Report, came in lower than the City’s in the last fiscal year and prior to that they were actually higher.  He said if they go beyond the full year the City’s costs were lower from the St. Lucie and Stanton Plants. 
	Mr. Mucher said they are not talking about old Plants like St. Lucie and Stanton. They are talking about new Plants, like the Plant in Ft. Pierce that is highly efficient.  He said that his understanding from FMEA was that the ARP wholesale energy costs were comparable to FPL’s wholesale energy costs.  He said the City is not buying from the ARP, but are buying from OUC.  He said that is why the City’s costs are higher.  He asked if the City was in fact trending up or if they were on a downward trend.  He said that he was told they were on a slightly upward trend and then all of a sudden the announcement was made in October, just before the Election, that there is a reduction of $1.50.  
	Mr. Gorry said all the numbers that he mentioned were without franchise fees and without municipal taxes.  He said that he didn’t add anything else.  They were the base rates.  
	Dr. Lapointe asked as a point of order, how is the Commission to conduct their business. He asked are they to speak when they want or do they require recognition from the Chair.  He asked do they rebut public comment noting that it delays the business of the Commission.  
	Mrs. Moss said that is why she wanted to move forward.  She thought that technically they (members) were to ask to speak, but that is why generally she asks if any of the Commission members has any comments.  She said that she does not have any objections to a Commission member making a comment.   
	4. NEW BUSINESS
	A) Power Plant Demolition Report – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric Utility Operations
	*Please note that discussion took place during today’s Power Point presentation.
	Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric Utility Operations, gave the Commission members a handout of the Electric Utilities facebook page (attached to the original minutes).  He explained that there was a communication issue in getting information out to the public after the recent hurricane so they set up their own electric utility facebook page.  He said that when they were going through the hurricane they sent the information to the Police Department’s website, which was confusing because people didn’t know to go to their website.  
	Mrs. Moss thought this was a great idea because people don’t think to go to the Police Department’s website to check for outages.  
	Mr. Fletcher gave the Commission members a handout on the City of Vero Beach Power Plant Demolition Items (attached to the original minutes).  He noted that this information would go along with the Power Point presentation.
	At this time, Mr. Fletcher gave a Power Point presentation on the Power Plant demolition (attached to the original minutes).
	Mr. Tonkel said the spreadsheet indicates that their expenditures for fiscal year 2016/2017 were $210,480 versus a budget of $750,000.  He asked would the removal of all the assets at the Power Plant be completed within the budgeted figure.  He asked is the City’s position at this point that the budgeted amount is adequate.
	Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, answered yes.    
	Mr. Tonkel assumed that when the budget was put together that these costs were put in the projected rate structure for 2016/2017.
	Mr. O’Connor said that is correct.
	Mrs. Moss asked has there been further discussion about moving the substation.
	Mr. O’Connor answered no.  
	Mr. Teston asked if the substation stays on the property, would that limit what the property could be used for.  
	Mr. O’Connor said it could, but they have access to the property on the north and the south side.  He noted that the real value of the property is the water and the substation is on the highway.  He said there would be limitations no matter what they do because the substation is taking up room on the property.  He said they could move the substation, but to move it to the corner of the lot would cost almost as much as it would cost to move it across the street.
	Mrs. Moss asked if they have any idea of the timeline for the overall project.  
	Mr. Fletcher said the only timeline that he could give at this point was the one that is currently in progress, which is 60 days on the fuel tank.
	Mrs. Moss said the presentation was very well done and gives them a sense of the enormity of the scope of it in that there are many different parts to it.
	Mr. O’Connor said there would probably be a lot of community input so the time would be gauged by how much activity that generates.  
	B) Quarterly Outage Report – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric Utility Operations
	Mr. Fletcher briefly went over the Quarterly Outage Report with the Commission members (attached to the original minutes).  He said the only thing that stood out was because of the storms they had in August and September there were a great deal of outages.
	Mr. Auwaerter complimented Mr. Fletcher on the report.  He said it has good graphics and has a nice data set that they could start to do comparisons on historical trends.  He felt it was important that they keep showing the monthly data as they build it up over the years.
	Mr. Baczynski said one question that was asked after the recent hurricane was why it took longer to restore power to some areas of the City than others and they were told that they were areas that had a lot of trees.  He asked if any thought has been given to putting the utilities underground in these areas.
	Mr. Fletcher answered yes.  He said they have identified some areas and if it is cost beneficial for the City to do it they will.  He reported that there were two (2) areas on the mainland and one (1) area on the beachside that they were looking at putting the utilities underground.  
	Mr. Baczynski asked if they would be making a presentation to the Commission.
	Mr. Fletcher said that he could give a presentation on the areas they were looking at for this budget year and the areas they were looking at for the next budget year.
	Mr. Baczynski would like to see an overall plan of what areas needed to be addressed. 
	Mr. Teston asked would enabling the crews to trim trees further back lend itself to less power outages.  
	Mr. O’Connor noted that the City is a Tree City U.S.A.  He said no one had any objections to them trimming trees before the storm and immediately after the storm.  But, two (2) months from now people won’t remember the last outage.  
	Mr. Teston noted that underground utilities are very expensive compared to overhead utilities.  He asked for a cost estimate on what it would take to put the electric service underground in the areas that Mr. Fletcher referred to.  
	Mr. O’Connor said that would be part of Mr. Fletcher’s presentation.
	Mr. Tonkel said the report is very well done.  He asked if there is a running total on what equipment creates the biggest problems.  
	Mr. Fletcher answered yes, all the information is kept in a database.  
	C) Post-Hurricane Utilities Update – Mr. Ted Fletcher, Director of Electric Utility Operations, Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager
	Mrs. Moss thanked Mr. Fletcher and his staff for working so hard during and after the storm.  She said that Mr. O’Connor gave an update at their last meeting and asked Mr. Fletcher if there was anything he wanted to add.  
	Mr. Fletcher reported that the only thing that is still pending is some debris pickup.  He said there might be some homeowners who were provided temporary power because of issues with their overhead lines, but there is not many.  He said they are now operating as usual.  
	Mrs. Moss said the charge of the Utilities Commission is to be an Advisory Board to the City Council and their purview is the electric issue, which is usually at the forefront, water and sewer, and solid waste.  She said the Solid Waste Department works under Mr. Falls, who is the Director of Public Works.  She thought that this was the first time, at least during her tenure, that Mr. Falls has attended a Utilities Commission meeting to discuss something.  She said that she has been remiss in not inviting him to attend their meetings sooner and was sorry that it took a storm for him to attend.  She said that she was happy that he was present for today’s meeting.
	Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director, thanked Mr. Fletcher and his staff for their assistance in that they all worked together during the storm.  He said that he would like to give a quick report on some of the storm related issues before getting into the solid waste program.  He reported that as of Friday they have completed the first pickup at every residential property in the City.  They are making a second pass through the neighborhoods in case there are piles that might have been put out late or that might have been missed.  They hope to have this completed by the end of Thursday.  He reported that they have collected almost 25,000 cubic yards of debris to date.  To put that in comparison, in 2004, after Hurricane Frances they had 150,000 cubic yards of debris and after Hurricane Jeanne they had 90,000 cubic yards of debris.  He reported that they have prepositioned contracts for assistance, with one being the primary and a second in case one could not get here and they have a consultant that helps monitor where the loads are collected.  He explained that the City receives a ticket with the GPS coordinate on it, which gets downloaded from the field to the consultant’s home office and the City receives the report the following day.  What they did during this storm, which they have not done in the past, was they had the information on the City’s website where people could click on the site and see storm debris collection, which was updated every day.  He said they started out making good progress in that the contractors bring in a few of their crews, as well as hire subcontractors who follow the work around the Country and go wherever the most work is.  He said the City had a small storm so it was hard to keep the subcontracted crews here.  They started with six (6) crews and it dwindled down to two (2) crews.  At that point they supplemented them with City forces, which brought them back on target of collecting between 1,000 to 1,800 cubic yards per day.  He reported that they hope to start the grinding operation the week of November 18th.  He said they are looking at a few options, one (1) was to haul it off, two (2) was there has been some interest in using the mulch for weed suppression in some of the groves, and three (3) was to look at tilling some of it back into the soil on site.  He reported that there was damage to the road and dune system at Conn Beach and the estimate to repair this was $300,000 with $200,000 for sand replacement at the dune.  He reported that they were working towards getting the permits and bids in hand in order to start the work.  He said there was one dune crossover at Bahia Mar that was damaged and they are working on getting permits and this cost would be somewhere in the $20,000 range.  He reported that they have the applicants briefing with FEMA to go over possible reimbursement for some of these charges tomorrow.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked how extensive is the paperwork they have to provide to FEMA.  
	Mr. Falls said they have to keep in a log the labor, equipment used, and the specific site worked at so it could be transferred onto FEMA’s worksheets.  He said the reason the City hired the debris consultant was because they have experience in doing this.  He explained that before a load can be transferred the consultant gets the GPS location, they measure the volume before it leaves and then when the truck comes back in it goes by a tower where there is a spotter who estimates the percentage of the load.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked in terms of the initial application is it extensive from a paperwork perspective.  
	Ms. Cynthia Lawson, Finance Director, explained that tomorrow’s briefing with FEMA is really just a question and answer session.  It will be another few months before they have a true kickoff meeting with the Public Assistant Coordinator (PAC) who is assigned to the City by FEMA.  At that point, City staff will begin to sit down with the PAC and divide their various costs into project work sheets.  She explained that they would come up with the most intelligent grouping of the kind of costs, such as debris removal, restoration of power, etc., and that is when they will be getting down to the nitty-gritty of agreeing on what costs are eligible and what documentation is required.  She said it is very extensive.  She said in terms of the process it takes a long time, an example is that the City is still dealing with FEMA on the 2004/2005 hurricanes.  She reported that they have $2 million set aside in the General Fund to cover these kinds of expenses, which would be replenished by any money the City receives from FEMA and from insurance.  
	D) Overview of Solid Waste Program – Mr. Monte Falls, Public Works Director
	Mrs. Moss asked Mr. Falls to give the Commission members an overview of the Solid Waste program.
	Mr. Falls gave the Commission members some background.  He said that he has been in the Vero Beach area for 35 years and has been working for the City for 26 years.  He received his Professional Engineer’s license in the State of Florida in 1995 and has been the Public Works Director for 12 years.  In 2005 the Public Works Department did not include the Solid Waste operation.  That was managed by General Maintenance Services, which included Solid Waste, Fleet Maintenance, and Facilities Maintenance.  That Director retired in 2005 and he was asked by the City Manager to look at the operation and make a recommendation.  His recommendation was to roll those divisions into the Public Works Department and not duplicate a Department Head and administrative services for those three (3) divisions.  At that time, those divisions were rolled into the Public Works Department, which resulted in a savings of about $200,000 annually.  The Public Works Department now has nine (9) divisions.   The Street Division, which takes care of all the streets, the signage, the pavement markings, and the drainage.  The Grounds Maintenance Division, which takes care of all the City’s Parks and public lands.  They also manage the Cemetery maintenance, staking out graves, and dealing with customers on site.  They have an Engineering and Survey Division that does project reviews for the Planning and Development Department, as well as their own small project designs.  They have the Geographic Information System who assists the Electric Utilities Department and the Water and Sewer Department with mapping.  They have the Administrative Division for the management of the Public Works Department.  He reported that in 2005 there were 150 employees in the Public Works Department and today they have 97 employees.     
	Mr. Falls reported that the City has been in the solid waste business since the late 1940’s.  In the 70’s that operation was changed to an Enterprise Fund.  They currently serve about 7,300 residential customer accounts and about 1,600 commercial accounts.  All are solely in the City limits.  They do not have a service territory outside the City limits.  They provide side yard residential garbage collection twice a week and curbside yard debris collection once a week.  Recycling is provided through a commercial provider and paid for with the non-ad valorem assessment, which is included in the tax bills and is managed by Indian River County.  The City’s commercial garbage collection is tailored to the needs of the customer.  He explained that the City collects commercial garbage Monday through Saturday and can collect someone’s commercial garbage from once a week to six (6) times a week.  Residential rates are $14.62 per month and commercial rates are based at $4.50 per cubic yard.  He reported that the residential rates are close to surrounding communities and the City’s commercial rates are lower.  He said about a year ago Indian River County switched to a once a week trash collection, which is billed out at about $9.68 per residential unit.  The City’s Solid Waste Department has 23 employees and have eight (8) residential trucks, five (5) commercial trucks, and six (6) specialty trucks (claw trucks).  He reported that if a citizen or business has a large debris pile the City will give them a price for collection.  Their budget is about $2.5 million per year, which is what the City takes in and what they expend.  He said about 60% of their work is residential and about 40% is commercial.    
	Mr. Tonkel asked if they have any contractors who are retained on a permanent basis or on an as needed basis.
	Mr. Falls said they do not have specific contracts, but inside the City limits they have franchise haulers where if someone needed a dumpster they would contract with them.  He said the City knows who those contractors are so if someone needs them the City will provide them with the list of contractors.  He noted that the City does receive a 6% franchise fee.  
	E) Update on Utility Customer Service Technology Upgrades – Mr. Jim O’Connor, City Manager
	Mrs. Moss reported that this item was before the Commission last November.  It recently went before the Finance Commission and no financial questions were asked.  She reported that this was also presented to the City Council.  She said that she went back and read the minutes from their November 10, 2015 meeting and there was a question as to why they don’t save money or at the very least reduce the charge back to the Utility Fund.  She said that she would like to address this question after Ms. Lawson makes her presentation.
	Ms. Lawson said the conversation about improvements to their customer service probably began in 2013 and was originally part of a conversation with both the Finance and Utilities Commissions in that the Finance Commission Chairman made suggestions to optimize or lower costs within the Electric Utility and to improve the efficiency and the customer service responsiveness of the Customer Service Department.  At the time, staff put together a proposal for three phases.  The first phase was the upgrade of billing software, which at the time was about 10 years out of date.  The second phase was the implementation of Ebox and Lockbox.  She briefly explained the function of Ebox and Lockbox.  She said currently when someone does an online bill-pay through their bank; the bank creates a paper check that is mailed to the City and has to be hand keyed because it comes without any account information.  She said Lockbox would have the bills sent to the City’s bank to be processed rather than the City’s staff processing all the bills.  This second phase staff believes would result in efficiencies and cost savings within their cashiering function.  The third and final phase was the customer website and their thought at the time was that this would be the most difficult and most expensive to implement.  She said currently customers can go online and pay their bill, but it is very cumbersome and redirects them to a third-party website and the only thing they can do is pay their bill.  They could not view their bill, set up auto debits, etc.  They could only pay their bill.  Staff recently discovered that there is an online bill payment and presentment software service that was already chosen by the City’s billing software provider, Cayenta, as their partner.  She said this would not require any upgrades to their billing software and is very inexpensive in both implementation and ongoing costs.  Included in the backup information provided is a description of the kinds of things Invoice Cloud offers (attached to the original minutes).  In addition, it would require that the City implement through their billing software Cayenta’s customer service porthole so essentially what would happen is when a customer goes to the City’s website they would enter through that porthole so they would not have that third party feeling.  They will be able to view their bills and other things that have to do with their bill itself.  They can also choose the bill paying options.  She said one of the most exciting things about it, other than setting up auto pay, pay by credit card, text, etc., is customers will also have the option to sign up for electronic billing.  She said that is one of the things that will result in a net savings to the City, which will offset the costs of the other portions of this.  Because it is easy to integrate and install, staff made the recommendation, which was accepting by the Finance Commission and the City Council, that they move this phase up as phase two (2) and save Ebox and Lockbox for the next phase.  She said 28% of their customers pay their bills by physically coming in to the Customer Service Department.  Over the past three (3) years staff has suggested if they want to save costs in the cashiering function that they could close the drive-through or shorten the hours, which was met with a lot of resistance.  She said staff is okay with that in that they are a full service customer service utility, but it does come at a price.  Staff is suggesting that if they implement these types of services they might see a natural downturn in the amount of demand on the customer service representatives because the people who prefer to do their business at home and not actually physically come to the Customer Service Department the City can offer that option.  She reported that they are currently in the process of working with Mr. Fletcher and his staff to implement the outage management system, which does require modifications to the billing software.  She reported that this program should be completed sometime in December so they would start this phase the first of the year and should be completed by next summer.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked Ms. Lawson if she envisions having an option where the customer completely opts out of receiving a paper bill and receives it electronically.
	Ms. Lawson answered yes.  She noted that people who have multiple addresses, such as landlords, will have the option to create one account and link them all together and then they could pay all the bills with one (1) payment.
	Mr. Tonkel asked were competitive proposals taken for each phase of the program.
	Ms. Lawson answered no.  She explained that Cayenta is the firm that has the City’s current billing software and they are not proposing to replace their billing software company.  Cayenta’s piece of it is an off the shelf porthole that allows the City to use the Invoice Cloud product.  They did not competitively procure them for a couple of reasons.  She explained that they are the preferred partner of Cayenta, who already did the competitive bidding and chose the firm they wanted to work with.  She said any other bill payment and presentment that the City chose would require modifications to their billing software in order for it to work.  Cayenta has already looked to find the best partner that they could and they chose Invoice Cloud.  She noted that Indian River County has chosen Invoice Cloud and so has Ft. Pierce.  She thought that Ocala did a competitive procurement and ended up with Invoice Cloud.  She said basically the sole source justification is that it has already been integrated with the billing software that the City currently has.
	Mr. Tonkel asked what is the term of the agreement.  He asked is it something that can be cancelled in a year’s notice.  
	Ms. Lawson said the initial term is three (3) years, it renews for an additional successive three (3) years unless it is terminated and it can be terminated at the end of the initial or renewal term with a 90-day notice.  They also put into the agreement that the City has the authority to terminate the agreement if Invoice Cloud increases their pricing.  
	Mrs. Moss asked what is the cost.
	Ms. Lawson reported that the implementation of the Cayenta CSS portion is $58,000, which is a one (1) time fee.  There is also a $15,000 software license fee.  As far as the Invoice Cloud goes, they do not know because it is a per transaction pricing.  She explained that there are certain parts of this that would be paid by the customer.  For instance, customers who pay by credit card or pay by one (1) time payment would pay the fees, customers who sign up for ACH the City would pay, and customers who sign up for E-billing, the City would receive a net savings of .31 cents.  She estimated in a worst case scenario where none of the customers changes from their current demographic or uses e-billing at all, it would be about $30,000 per year
	Mrs. Orcutt asked how will customers find out about this new service.  
	Ms. Lawson said they would probably put a notification in their bill.  She noted that the information will also be located on the City’s website.  She said the customers would be responsible for going in and creating their own account.
	Mrs. Moss said last year the Vice Chairman asked at what point, if any, will there be a real cost savings by having this system in terms of needed personnel.  
	Ms. Lawson said until and unless the City is willing to reduce cashier hours, close the drive through window, or in some other way modify the amount of service that is provided by the cashiers, she cannot reduce the number of cashiers.  Therefore, the issue of cashiers is going to be driven by the City’s willingness to reduce the services offered.  What this is more likely to do is reduce the number of customer service representatives.  
	Mr. Auwaerter asked if she thought this would help their collection rate.
	Ms. Lawson said it might.  She said their collections have been pretty good in that in the last couple of years they have cut down on the cutoff lists by working with customers by not allowing them to get too far behind.  They are working with customers to help them come up with payment plans and have worked with some of the local aid agencies to help customers pay their bills when they can’t.  They have also changed some of their policies in regards to deposits.  
	F) FMPA Matters – Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager
	Mrs. Moss reported that a few months ago she invited a representative of the FMPA to attend one of their meetings.  She said they have a new Chief Executive, Mr. Jacobs, and because he was new they weren’t prepared to accept the invitation.  She said that she left them with a standing invitation to attend the Utilities Commission meetings.  She felt that it would be worth wild on FMPA’s part to attend a meeting to discuss the $250 million that the State Audit uncovered last year.  She noted that the report is still on the internet.  She said that she heard there was some kind of a debt service on the $250 million dollars.  She asked Mr. O’Connor if he was aware of this.  
	Mr. O’Connor asked if she was discussing the money they lost on the futures.
	Mrs. Moss answered yes.   She said someone told her about this, but she has not seen it in writing anywhere.
	Mr. O’Connor said there were penalties in the instruments themselves.  He said FMPA did have to pay those costs.  
	Mrs. Moss asked what was the amount of those penalties.
	Mr. O’Connor said that he did not know.  He thought that the PSC just reached an agreement that futures would be limited in the State of Florida going forward for fuels.  He thought that everyone in the electric utility in the large volume buyers suffered similar type of hits.  The way he understands the future documents is they are instruments that state you buy it at a certain rate and if the rate goes down you sell it at a higher rate than what you bought it for and if the rate goes up you would make money.  He said the rates went down so they lost whatever that continual was.  
	Mr. Auwaerter said there were actually two different things going on.  He thought what Mrs. Moss was referring to were the Taylor Swaps.  
	Mr. O’Connor reported that they hope to have the 2016 FMPA Audit completed by January.    
	Mrs. Orcutt asked about the FMPA Solar Survey.  She said that she was very unhappy with it.  She asked is it too late for their input.
	Mr. Auwaerter answered no.  He said the responses are not due back until tomorrow and he has not reviewed the questions yet.  He said that he attended the last meeting in Orlando and he received resistance in that there is insistence that solar power is more expensive than FMPA’s power.  He did not think they were looking at it correctly noting that they might be correct currently with the current technology.  He wanted to make sure that FMPA did not bias the survey by saying that solar power was always going to be more expensive.  He was not sure if that was the source of Mrs. Orcutt’s concern.  
	Mrs. Orcutt said the main source of her concern from the very beginning was that the first 30 questions would prejudice the person responding because they were all about do you like your utility company.  She said that is irrelevant.
	Mr. Auwaerter said they made it a broader survey in order to get the FMPA Board of Directors to sign off on it.
	Mrs. Orcutt felt that this would totally backfire in this area because this has been such a negative political scenario relevant to the utility and they are starting the survey with how you like your utility compared to this or that before they even get to a solar question.  The other thing is it only talks about community solar and doesn’t mention that the City has a net metering program.  She said the survey does not address local issues.
	Mr. Auwaerter said the problem is they have to try to have the survey at nine (9) minutes.   
	Mrs. Orcutt said then they shouldn’t have the first 30 questions, they should jump right into the solar questions.
	Mrs. Moss asked the Commission members if it would be appropriate to have this item on next month’s agenda.
	Mr. Auwaerter said that he can give a report to the Commission at their next meeting. 
	5. OLD BUSINESS 
	None
	6. CHAIRMAN’S MATTERS
	Mrs. Moss said that next week’s Joint Finance Commission/Utilities Commission meeting was rescheduled presumably because Mr. Peter Gorry, Chairman of the Finance Commission, was appointed by Mayor Jay Kramer who is not running for reelection.  Therefore, someone else will have to appoint Mr. Gorry if he is going to maintain his position on the Finance Commission.  She said today is election day and she is a Commission member at large who was not appointed by an individual Councilmember.  Therefore, she would retain her seat if she doesn’t get another seat today (referring to a seat on the City Council).   She said whatever happens she wanted to state for the record that this Commission is very smart, spontaneous, and spirited.  She said the energy level is very high and she thanked them all for their time and dedication.  She appreciated all their efforts.  
	7. MEMBER’S MATTERS
	Mr. Mark Mucher reported that at the last City Council meeting it was clarified that Commission/Board members who were appointed by a Councilmember would continue to serve until the Successor Councilperson appoints someone new.  Therefore, the rescheduling of the joint Finance Commission/Utilities Commission doesn’t sound like it has anything to do with Mr. Gorry being appointed by Mayor Kramer as there will be a Finance Commission meeting next week.
	8. ADJOURNMENT
	Mr. Auwaerter made a motion to adjourn today’s meeting at 11:12 a.m.  Mr. Baczynski seconded the motion and it passed unanimously.
	/sp


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


